STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Greenville County

Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JAHRU HAROLD SMITH,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2018-000505

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED
SEP 27 2019
SC Court of Appeals

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the judge err in refusing to continue the trial in order for the visually impaired Appellant to obtain prescription eye glasses so that he could see to assist his attorney with his defense?
2. Did the judge err in refusing to continue the trial in order for the visually impaired Appellant to obtain prescription eye glasses so that he could see in order to exercise his Sixth Amendment right to self-representation?
3. Did the judge err in sentencing Appellant to five years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime after sentencing him to life without parole for murder and armed robbery?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State obtained indictments against Appellant, Jahru Harold Smith, for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, indictment #2015-GS-23-2033 and armed robbery, indictment #2015-GS-23-2034. The indictments list the August 2015 term but 2015 is crossed out and 2016 is handwritten above. The date listed below the name of the witness who testified before the grand jury is February 13, 2015. The indictments are stamped as true billed and include the signature of the grand jury foreman but do not include a date. The indictments were stamped as received by the clerk's office on April 24, 2015. There was no objection to the indictments at trial.

Appellant proceeded to jury trial, with his co-defendant and brother, Bobby Leon Smith, on March 12, 2018, before the Honorable Robin B. Stilwell. Alex Kornfeld initially represented Appellant at trial. Counsel moved for a continuance to allow Appellant, who is visually impaired, to obtain prescription reading glasses. The judge denied the motion for a continuance and Appellant moved to relieve counsel and represent himself. The judge granted Appellant's motion to represent himself and allowed trial counsel, Mr. Kornfeld, to serve as stand-by counsel. When the judge again denied Appellant's request for a continuance to obtain prescription reading glasses, Appellant refused to remain in the courtroom and the judge ordered Mr. Kornfeld to represent Appellant. Brian J. Moroney, Jr. and W. Jeffrey Weston prosecuted the case. The jury returned verdicts of guilty and the judge sentenced Appellant to life without parole for murder and armed robbery and five years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

As to issues one and two addressing the denial of motions for continuance in order for the visually impaired Appellant to obtain prescription eye glasses that would allow him to see, the standard of review is abuse of discretion. “ ‘The granting of a motion for a continuance is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed absent a clear showing of an abuse of discretion.’ ” State v. Geer, 391 S.C. 179, 189, 705 S.E.2d 441, 447 (Ct. App. 2010) (quoting State v. Yarborough, 363 S.C. 260, 266, 609 S.E.2d 592, 595 (Ct. App. 2005)). “ ‘An abuse of discretion arises from an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support.’ ” Id. (quoting State v. Irick, 344 S.C. 460, 464, 545 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2001)); see also State v. Funderburk, 367 S.C. 236, 239, 625 S.E.2d 248, 249–50 (Ct. App. 2006) (“An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law.”). Even if there was no evidentiary support, “ ‘[i]n order for an error to warrant reversal, the error must result in prejudice to the appellant.’ ” Geer, 391 S.C. at 190, 705 S.E.2d at 447 (quoting State v. Preslar, 364 S.C. 466, 473, 613 S.E.2d 381, 385 (Ct. App. 2005)); see also State v. Wyatt, 317 S.C. 370, 372–73, 453 S.E.2d 890, 891–92 (1995). (stating that error without prejudice does not warrant reversal).

As to the third issue involving sentencing, the standard of review is also an abuse of discretion. “A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support.” In re M.B.H., 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010).

ARGUMENTS

- 1. The trial judge erred in refusing to continue the case in order for the visually impaired Appellant to obtain prescription eye glasses so that he could see to assist his attorney with his defense.**

Appellant's trial took place in Greenville County. The very first pre-trial motion involved Appellant's request for prescription eye glasses. Trial counsel told the judge, "I just spoke to my client. And Mr. Smith is being held in the Anderson County Detention Center." (R. p. 9, lines 24-25). Trial counsel additionally told the judge, "When he was arrested at that time, his glasses broke. He does not have his glasses. And he receives some disability due to the fact of his blindness. He tells me that he can barely see, and everything looks like a TV screen. And he cannot read. He tells me because of that, he cannot actively assist in his defense in picking the jury. And he requests that he be given glasses at this time so that he can – can assist in his defense, Your Honor." (R. p. 10, lines 2-10). The judge responded, "Well, I don't know that it would serve any useful purpose to give him a pair of glasses that didn't meet his prescription." (R. p. 10, lines 11-13). Trial counsel responded, "Right. I understand, Your Honor. I do know that he does have limited vision. He did have very thick glasses the times I saw him before. I don't know how long it would take him to get glasses." (R. p. 10, lines 14-19). The judge then asked trial counsel, "Do you feel – do you feel that that prejudices him in some way in the jury selection process?" (R. p. 10, lines 20-22). Trial counsel answered, "Your Honor, he does. Because he wants to be able to, I guess, confer with me concerning who is selected on his jury." (R. p. 10, lines 23-25). The judge found that Appellant was not prejudiced by the fact that he did not have prescription glasses to see during jury selection. (R. p. 11, lines 15-16). Appellant objected. (R. p. 11, line 19 – p. 12, lines 1-8).

Later Appellant again objected stating:

Excuse me, Your Honor. I still . . . got to object to this. Because, one, I can't even go over the jury questionnaire: right? I don't know what to ask my attorney to ask these folks. You know what I'm saying? And – and, two, right – I have a right to face my jury of peers. I can't see them, man. You're going to force me to go through a trial a blind man. And the only thing I'm asking you to do right is to give me a deferment. It won't take no people no more than two and a half weeks to have me some glasses made, if you'd issue an injunction; right? I'd be ready to go to trial. As a matter of fact, I'll try the trial myself.

(R. p. 19, line 15 – p. 20, lines 1-5). The judge assured Appellant that his objection was protected on the record and if convicted, Appellant could appeal the judge's decision. (R. p. 20, lines 6-11). Appellant responded stating, "I don't want to wait until after I'm convicted, as you say, and then assert the right. I want to assert the right here and now. Because this matter can be resolved right now; right. The only thing I'm asking is to be provided some eyes so I can see to defend myself. That's the only thing that I'm asking." (R. p. 20, lines 18-24). Appellant also noted, "And, I mean, the – the Prosecution have waited three years; right? What's – what's a couple more weeks to try this case?" (R. p. 21, lines 1-3).

The judge advised Appellant, "I understand, Mr. Smith. And I appreciate your position. Just understand that I'm not convinced that your – your inability to see well prejudices you legally in this instance." (R. p. 21, lines 4-7). Appellant then said:

Okay. Let me put it to you this way right here then. This is how it prejudices me: right? Because, one, I'm asserting my Sixth Amendment right to defend myself; right? That's how it prejudices me. And I cannot defend myself if I cannot see to read, go over discovery, or whatever evidence that the Prosecution might have, or any exculpatory evidence that the might have that's favorable or nonfavorable to me.

(R. p. 21, lines 8-16). The judge then told Appellant that he had been appointed counsel but asked if he wanted to fire counsel. (R. p. 21, lines 23-24; p. 22, lines 16-17). Appellant

responded, “No. I don’t want to fire my counsel. I want – I want to assert the right to defend myself with the assistance of counsel.” (R. p. 22, lines 18-20). The judge then told Appellant, “What you’re saying is legally inconsistent. Okay.” (R. p. 22, lines 21 -22).

After some more discussion about jury selection, the following exchange took place between Appellant and the judge:

THE COURT: It seems to me, Mr. Smith, that if you were sincere and you were making an honest motion before this Court, you would have brought the prescription, and you would have told me your eyesight is with specificity –

DEFENDANT: How can I do that if I’m incarcerated –

THE COURT: -- as opposed to just standing up and saying I can’t see. You would have armed Mr. Kornfeld [trial counsel] –

DEFENDANT: Today is my first time seeing my attorney since last year. This is the first time I’ve seen my attorney since last year; right? He could have – he could have been here and told you this if he would have come to see me when – once he found out that a trial date had been set. He knew I was in Anderson County. He could have – he could have told you this. I tried to call him. I couldn’t get in touch with him.

(R. p. 24, lines 6-23). Trial counsel did not deny that he was seeing his client for the first time since last year on the morning of trial and simply told the judge that he wrote to his client.¹ (R. p. 24, line 25 – p. 25, lines 1). Finally, Appellant told the judge, “Now, you’re saying that – I could have brought you my prescription up in here. I’m saying if I had my prescription and I could have brought it to you, I, certainly would have done so.” (R. p. 25, lines 14-17). The judge then ruled stating, “Okay. Mr. Smith, I appreciate it. And you’ve been heard on the record. I respectfully, respectfully and with no animus or ill will towards you, I respectfully deny your motion.” (R. p. 25, lines 18-21). The trial judge erred.

¹ Trial counsel’s failure to visit Appellant prior to trial and determine that Appellant needed his prescription eye glasses may be an issue that will need to be addressed in post-conviction relief.

In United States v. Scheur, 547 F. Supp. 2d 580, 588 (E.D. La. 2008), Judge Eldon E. Fallon, United States District Judge for the Eastern District of Louisiana ordered special accommodations for Scheur, who was blind. The judge wrote:

“The constitutional guarantee of due process in a criminal trial ‘is, in essence, the right to a fair opportunity to defend against the State’s accusations.’ ” Ferrell v. Estelle, 568 F.2d 1128, 1131 (5th Cir.1978) (quoting Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 294, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973)). “That guarantee encompasses both the right of a defendant to confront witnesses against him and his right to assist in his own defense.” Id. But as the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit further explained in Ferrell, a case involving a deaf defendant, these rights are not absolute:

The Constitution does not, however, guarantee every defendant a perfect trial. The rights vouchsafed are practical, reasonable rights rather than ideal concepts of communication, and even these pragmatic rights may not be exercised without limit. The Constitution does not require that every defendant comprehend the English language with the precision of a Rhodes Scholar or appreciate the nuances of a witness’ expressions or behavior with the skill of a doctor of psychology. Nor may a defendant press the exercise of his right to the point at which he disrupts the public’s right to an orderly trial. Id. (fn #10 omitted).

In granting special accommodations by allowing the defendant to use a hand-held braille computer the district judge relied on a case decided by the Illinois Supreme Court and wrote:

The Supreme Court of Illinois has set forth an authoritative road map for courts to follow when faced with the trial of a disabled defendant:

The general rule in handling the trial of a criminal defendant who is handicapped by deafness, blindness or other affliction is that a trial judge should afford such a defendant reasonable facilities for confronting and cross-examining the witnesses as the circumstances will permit. He need only give such aid to intelligent appreciation of the proceeding as a sound discretion may suggest. The fact of blindness or deafness of the accused may lessen the ability and capacity of the defendant to utilize his constitutional rights, but this will not prevent his being subject to trial. In the proper administration of justice, however, the court should give a person accused of crime a reasonable opportunity to obtain the benefit of his constitutional rights.

People ex rel. Myers v. Briggs, 46 Ill.2d 281, 263 N.E.2d 109, 113 (1970). To exercise its discretion in this respect, however, “the court must first make some meaningful inquiry into the nature and extent of the defendant’s [disability].” People v. Williams, 331 Ill.App.3d 662, 265 Ill.Dec. 136, 771 N.E.2d 1095, 1099.

(2002). As noted above, the Court conducted an evidentiary hearing on April 17, 2008, regarding Scheur's disability and is now prepared to exercise its discretion.

United States v. Scheur, 547 F. Supp. 2d 580, 587–88 (E.D. La. 2008).

Appellant in the present case was simply asking for a continuance in order to obtain prescription reading glasses so that he could see in order to be able to assist in his defense. The request was reasonable and necessary. As correctly noted by Appellant, he was arrested ten days after the incident on February 3, 2015, but the State did not call the case to trial until March 12, 2018, three years later. A two to three-week continuance would have provided Appellant with a reasonable opportunity to obtain the benefit of his constitutional right to due process and to assist in his own defense. The delay in the request should not be attributed to Appellant as trial counsel admitted that he had not personally visited Appellant in Anderson County prior to trial. The judge's insinuation that Appellant was not being honest or sincere about his ability to see is not supported by the record where trial counsel advised the judge that Appellant received disability compensation because of visual impairment. (R. p. 10, lines 3-4).

Denying Appellant the opportunity to obtain prescription reading glasses for trial is analogous to denying a non-English speaking or deaf defendant the benefit of an interpreter at trial. "The right to an interpreter rests most fundamentally, however, on the notion that no defendant should face the Kafkaesque spectre of an incomprehensible ritual which may terminate in punishment." United States v. Carrion, 488 F.2d 12, 14 (1st Cir. 1973). While the appointment of interpreters in court proceedings for the deaf and non-English speakers is controlled by statutes in South Carolina,² a similar accommodation should be made for the blind, especially when the defendant is indigent and is simply requesting prescription reading glasses.

² S.C. Code §15-27-15 for deaf people and S.C. Code §15-27-155 for non-English speaking people.

In State v. Williams, 321 S.C. 455, 459, 469 S.E.2d 49, 51–52 (1996), the South Carolina

Supreme Court wrote:

The trial court's refusal of a motion for continuance in a criminal case will not be disturbed absent a clear abuse of discretion. State v. Tanner, 299 S.C. 459, 385 S.E.2d 832 (1989). Reversals of the refusal of a continuance are about as "rare as the proverbial hens' teeth." State v. Lytchfield, 230 S.C. 405, 409, 95 S.E.2d 857, 859 (1957). Where there is no showing that any other evidence on behalf of the appellant could have been produced, or that any other points could have been raised had more time been granted for the purpose of preparing the case for trial, the denial of a motion for continuance is not an abuse of discretion. State v. Squires, 248 S.C. 239, 149 S.E.2d 601 (1966).

In the present case there is a showing that Appellant needed a continuance in order to obtain prescription eye glasses. The need for the eye glasses is directly linked to Appellant's constitutional due process rights to assist in his own defense as well as confront witnesses against him. Based on counsel's representation to the judge that Appellant was visually impaired, the judge should have made a meaningful inquiry into the nature and extent of Appellant's disability and made such accommodations as deemed necessary. What little inquiry was made by the judge in the present case was not meaningful. The present case is analogous to State v. Wrapp, 421 S.C. 531, 808 S.E.2d 821 (Ct. App. 2017), where the Court found the trial judge erred in refusing to grant a continuance and proceeding with a trial in absentia without making proper findings in regard to notice. The trial judge in the present case abused his discretion in refusing to grant a continuance so that Appellant could obtain prescription eye glasses.

- 2. The trial judge erred in refusing to continue the case in order for the visually impaired Appellant to obtain prescription eye glasses so that he could see in order to exercise his Sixth Amendment right to self-representation.**

Later, after the trial judge denied the motion for a continuance, Appellant moved to represent himself. Trial counsel told the judge, "I spoke with Jahru Smith, my client, at lunch.

And he now says that you misunderstood him, I guess, I concluded. But he wants to represent himself and assert his Sixth Amendment right, and have me act as standby counsel. Those aren't the exact words that he said." (R. p. 36, line 21 – p. 71, line 1). When questioned, Appellant told the judge, "Yes, sir. As I previously informed the Court that I'd like to assert my Sixth Amendment right to self-representation with the assistance of counsel." (R. p. 37, lines 12-15). After questioning Appellant about self-representation, Appellant told the judge, "As I informed you before, it is impossible for me to do that without my mandate prescription eyeglasses. And the fact of the matter is the new evidence that the Prosecution has turned over to my attorney, I have not had the opportunity to review, as well as other material in the case." (R. p. 39, lines 4-9). The judge ruled, "All right. Mr. Smith, I'll allow you to represent yourself. I'm not going to continue the case. Okay. You can – you can use Mr. Kornfeld to assist you in the review of documents. And we'll take our time. Any document that's turned over –" (R. p. 39, lines 14-18). Appellant objected. (R. p. 39, lines 19-21).

When Appellant stated that he wished to leave the courtroom, the judge encouraged him to stay but Appellant responded, "For what? How am I going to stay? Man, I'm blind. How in the hell you going to allow me to represent myself and I'm blind? But I'm telling you I can see if you allow me time to get my prescription eyeglasses. That's not fair. That is not fair at all." (R. p. 40, line 22 – p. 41, line 1). The following took place between Appellant and the judge:

DEFENDANT: Yes. I'm saying my counsel and me, we're leaving. Y'all go ahead and try the case. That's what you're doing anyway. I ain't got no counsel.

THE COURT: I'm directing Mr. Kornfeld to stay and to represent you.

DEFENDANT: Well, I'm directing him to not represent me. I'm representing myself.

(R. p. 41, lines 3-9). Appellant then left the courtroom. (R. p. 41, lines 10-11). The judge then stated:

All right. Just to be very clear about matters, I'm ordering, Mr. Kornfeld, for you to continue to represent Mr. Smith in this proceeding. I recognize that he has made a motion to have you removed as counsel or to represent himself. However, he's elected to leave the courtroom. I don't want him to be prejudiced by that decision any more than is absolutely necessary. I know that you have prepared this case. You've had the opportunity to discuss the same with him. And, inasmuch, he deserves representation, and I'm going to leave you on the case. I think that's appropriate under the circumstances.

And I'll state clearly for the record in case I haven't articulated clearly enough, because Mr. Smith, essentially, didn't want to have a discussion or to articulate his position clearly. He says he couldn't see. Well, that may or may not be true. I don't know that. I don't have any type of prescription which would suggest to me that he is blind, that he's legally blind, or that his ability to see is so compromised that he can't function. Now, that very well may be the case. But I don't have anything that demonstrates that, other than his representation. So I -- I don't -- I don't have anything in the record substantively which demonstrates by a preponderance of the evidence, clear and convincing evidence, or beyond a reasonable doubt, or even rises to probable cause that he is legally prejudiced by not having glasses today.

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