ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from Greenville County

The Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JAHRU HAROLD SMITH,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2018-000505

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

MICHAEL D. ROSS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 73986

South Carolina Office of the Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6307

W. Walter Wilkins, III.
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

SFP 30 2019

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court's Denial of Appellant's Motion to Continue Should be Affirmed Because Appellant Made No Effort to Obtain Glasses Before Trial, Offered No Proof of Impairment, and Sustained No Prejudice From the Court's Ruling.

Ruling upon a motion to continue "is a matter within the trial court's discretion." State v. Smith, 387 S.C. 619, 622, 693 S.E.2d 415, 417 (Ct. App. 2010). On appeal, the circuit court's decision will not be reversed "unless there was an abuse of discretion that resulted in prejudice." Id. Additionally, in evaluating the denial of a motion to continue, "a party cannot complain of an error which his own conduct has induced." State v. Meggett, 398 S.C. 516, 523, 728 S.E.2d 492, 496 (Ct. App. 2012)(quoting State v. Babb, 299 S.C. 451, 455, 385 S.E.2d 827, 829 (1989). As such, reversing a circuit court's denial of a motion to continue is "about as rare as the proverbial hens' teeth." State v. Williams, 321 S.C. 455, 459, 469 S.E.2d 49, 51 (1996)(quoting State v. Lytchfield, 230 S.C. 405, 409, 95 S.E.2d 857, 859 (1957).

A. The Circuit Court's Denial of Appellant's Motion to Continue Did Not Deprive Him of the Right to Assist Counsel.

The circuit court's initial denial of appellant's motion to continue should be affirmed because it had factual support and appellant sustained no prejudice. As noted above, appellant presented no evidence on the extent of his alleged vision impairment, much less any evidence that would render the court's proposed accommodation unreasonable. He offered no prescription, no doctor's opinion, and no lay testimony.¹³ In contrast, the State was ready for

¹³ As noted above, the mother of appellant's children, Tiffany Petty, testified during the State's case-in-chief. On cross-examination, she testified that appellant wears "real thick glasses" and cannot see without them. (R. 371, l. 14-15). She also testified that he receives a monthly disability check because he is legally blind. (R. 371, l. 16- 23). Her testimony occurred after the court denied appellant's second motion to continue. As such, the court could not consider it in ruling on appellant's two motions to continue.

trial and had twenty-nine witnesses under subpoena. (R. 2-4; 346-347). Simply put, the court acted reasonably in expecting appellant to provide *some* proof of his alleged vision impairment before continuing the case.

The record also contains no evidence that appellant made any effort prior to trial to obtain a new pair of glasses. Appellant's glasses allegedly broke during his arrest on unrelated charges in Anderson.¹⁴ (R. 10, l. 2-3). He should have attempted to obtain a new pair of glasses after they broke, not the morning of his trial. At a minimum, he could have notified either the court or the solicitor of the potential issue. Therefore, appellant's inaction created his predicament, not any error by the court or the State. Appellant has no one to blame but himself.

Furthermore, appellant cannot establish any prejudice arising from the circuit court's ruling. As noted above, appellant refused to participate in jury selection after the court ruled against him. (R. 29, l. 22-23). Thus, he cannot establish that the court's proposed accommodation was unworkable because he did not even attempt to abide by that ruling. Had appellant remained in court, he might have been able to point to a specific juror whose body language he could not see, a specific portion of the jury list he could not read, or a particular moment where he did not have enough time to confer with his attorney. Because he refused to follow the court's ruling, he can do none of these things.

¹⁴ The record is unclear when the intervening arrest in Anderson County occurred. Although no precise date is given, the record is clear that appellant broke his glasses before the case was set for trial. Appellant informed the circuit court that his attorney would have known about the broken glasses "if he would have come to see me when -- once he found out that a trial date had been set. He knew I was in Anderson County." (R. 24, l. 19-21). Thus, according to appellant, his attorney knew he was in the Anderson County jail on the intervening charge before the trial date was set. Additionally, trial counsel sent appellant "two or three" letters after the intervening arrest, further indicating that appellant had sufficient time to obtain new glasses. (R. 25, l. 1).

Appellant's inaction prior to trial and inability to establish prejudice makes this case analogous to State v. Meggett, 398 S.C. 516, 728 S.E.2d 492 (Ct. App. 2012). In Meggett, the defendant faced burglary and criminal sexual conduct charges after an alleged sexual assault. On the morning his trial started, he moved for a continuance in order to have a relative's bed comforter tested for the victim's DNA. The defendant believed the presence of the victim's DNA on the comforter would corroborate his claim that he had an ongoing, consensual relationship with the victim. The circuit court denied the motion, and the jury convicted him at trial. On appeal, he argued the circuit court abused its discretion in denying his motion to continue.

This Court disagreed, noting that "a party cannot complain of an error which his conduct has induced." Id. at 523, 728 S.E.2d at 496. Because the defendant could have sent the comforter for testing prior to trial, this Court held that "his failure to do so was a result of his own inaction and not a lack of preparation time."¹⁵ Id. Additionally, the defendant offered nothing to suggest that probative evidence would still be on the comforter. As such, this Court held that the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion to continue. Id. at 524, 728 S.E.2d at 496.

Like the defendant in Meggett, appellant's own inaction, not a lack of preparation time, created the problem he faced on the morning of trial. Appellant should have obtained new glasses while awaiting trial; not the minute he walked into the court room. Also like the

¹⁵ Like the case at bar, the defense attorney in Meggett asserted his client raised the issue to him on the morning of trial. Id. at 520, 728 S.E. 2d at 494 ("Defense counsel asserted Meggett, on the morning of trial, raised the issue of having a comforter from his nephew's bed in his sister's home tested for DNA evidence based on Meggett's claim he had consensual sex with Victim in the bed in the months leading up to the incident.").

defendant in Meggett, he cannot establish prejudice arising from the court's ruling. Because he voluntarily left the court room after the ruling, he cannot show the court's accommodation was prejudicial towards him.

In addition to Meggett, a series of three cases illustrate the type of prejudice appellant must show in order to overturn the circuit court. First, in State v. Asbury, 328 S.C. 187, 493 S.E.2d 349 (1997), the defendant went to trial for murder, resulting in a mistrial. Prior to the second trial, he moved for a continuance in order to obtain the transcript from the first trial. After the circuit court denied the motion, the jury found him guilty as charged. On appeal, the Supreme Court upheld the ruling because the defendant failed to establish prejudice. Specifically, the court noted that the defendant could have used the court reporter's tapes, if necessary, to impeach witnesses. Id.

This Court relied on Asbury in analyzing the second case a few years later, State v. Mansfield, 343 S.C. 66, 538 S.E.2d 257 (Ct. App. 2000). Mansfield also involved a motion to continue in order to obtain a transcript following a mistrial. However, the defendant in Mansfield could point to specific differences in the testimony of a key witness between the first trial and the second. Nevertheless, this Court found no prejudice from the denial of the motion to continue, noting the differences in the witness's testimony were minor and actually enhanced his credibility.¹⁶ Id. at 77, 538 S.E.2d at 262.

Finally, the Supreme Court addressed the issue again in State v. McMillan, 349 S.C. 17 561 S.E.2d 602 (2002). Like the previous two cases, McMillan involved a motion to continue in

¹⁶ In Mansfield, the defense attorney sent a letter requesting the court reporter's tapes one week before trial. This Court noted that the attorney could have sent a subpoena to produce the tapes for trial. As such, he "did not need a continuance to achieve his stated objective." Id. at 77, 538 S.E.2d at 262. The case at bar is similar. Because appellant could have obtained a new pair of glasses prior to trial, he "did not need a continuance to achieve his stated objective." See Id.

order to obtain a transcript following a mistrial. But unlike Asbury and Mansfield, the court reporter did not maintain any backup tapes to use in lieu of the transcript. McMillan, 349 S.C. at 23, 561 S.E. 2d at 605. Furthermore, the defendant in McMillan could point to a specific piece of testimony in which the only “neutral” witness actually lied on the stand. Id. at 604. Although the witness lied about a fact irrelevant to the defendant’s guilt, the lie affected her overall credibility. Id. at 22, 561 S.E.2d at 604. As the court noted, “the verdict hinged upon her credibility.” Id. at 23, 561 S.E.2d at 605. The court held the defendant sustained prejudice based on: (1) the lack of any alternative to the transcript, and (2) the defendant’s ability to articulate a specific portion of testimony where a transcript or tape would have affected the trial. As such, the circuit court committed reversible error in denying the motion to continue.

McMillan illustrates the type of prejudice that appellant simply cannot establish. In McMillan, there was no alternative to the trial transcript because the court reporter did not produce a backup tape. Not so here. Counsel’s eyes were a reasonable alternative to appellant’s glasses. As the circuit court noted, counsel could read the jury list to appellant, confer with him, and convey information during the jury selection process. (R. 11, l. 15-16). The court even reassured appellant later, advising, “we’ll take our time.” (R. 39, l. 17).

More importantly, unlike McMillan appellant cannot articulate how the trial would have changed if had glasses. As soon as appellant walked out of the court room, his alleged vision impairment had no impact on the trial. Appellant can point to no witness he could not see, no piece of evidence he could not see, and no document he could not see. As such, appellant sustained no prejudice from the court’s ruling.

Appellant cites United States v. Scheur¹⁷ in arguing that the circuit court should have continued the case. (App. Brief 7). In Scheur, a federal district court in Louisiana ruled that a blind defendant was entitled to reasonable accommodations during trial, including the use of his braille computer. Appellant's reliance on Scheur is misplaced.

One critical fact in Scheur distinguishes it from this case: timing. The Scheur court learned of the defendant's blindness over a month before the scheduled trial date. Scheur, 547 F. Supp. 2d at 583. The notice allowed the court to convene a hearing on the issue eleven days before trial and issue an order four days before trial. Id. at 580, 588. In other words, the court was not faced with a motion to continue at the last minute because of one party's inaction. In fact, the defendant never even moved for a continuance because the problem was addressed in advance of trial. Furthermore, the defendant in Scheur actually presented evidence to prove his impairment. Id. at 589.

Unlike Scheur, the issue in this case is not whether wearing glasses is a reasonable accommodation for vision impairment. The circuit court did not order appellant to check his glasses at the door. Instead, the issue is whether a continuance on the morning of a murder trial is reasonable without any proof of impairment, without making the slightest effort to solve the problem before walking into court, and without demonstrating any resulting prejudice. The circuit court was in the best position to answer this question. Its ruling should not be disturbed because it did not abuse its discretion.

¹⁷ 547 F. Supp. 2d 580 (E.D. La. 2008).

B. The Circuit Court's Denial of Appellant's Motion to Continue Did Not Deprive Him of the Right to Self-Representation.

As noted above, after jury selection appellant briefly returned to the court room and asked to represent himself. (R. 37, l. 12-20). As the court was proceeding with Faretta warnings, appellant made a second motion to continue in order to obtain glasses. (R. 39, l. 4-21). The court allowed defendant to proceed *pro se* with counsel acting in a standby capacity, but denied the motion to continue. (R. 39, l. 14-15). Once the motion to continue was denied, appellant refused to participate further. (R. 40, l. 11-18). Appellant walked out of the court room, and counsel continued to represent him in his absence. (R. 41, l. 10-25). On appeal, appellant argues the denial of the second motion to continue deprived him of the right to self-representation. (App. Brief 9-16).

The circuit court's ruling on the second motion to continue should be affirmed for the same reasons as the first. Nothing changed between appellant's first and second motions to continue. Appellant still offered no proof of impairment. Appellant still failed to show any due diligence in obtaining new glasses prior to trial. And appellant still suffered no prejudice from the court's ruling. Although the court permitted appellant to represent himself, he walked out of the court room. Had he attempted to represent himself, then perhaps he could point to a witness that he was unable to cross-examine, or a piece of evidence he could not see. Because he cannot articulate how the trial would have been different, appellant has failed to establish prejudice. See e.g. McMillan, 349 S.C. 17, 561 S.E.2d 602 (2002); Cf. Rule 7(b), SCRCrimP (in motions to continue based on the absence of a witness, the moving party not only must establish that the motion is not intended for delay, but also must demonstrate due diligence in securing the witness).

Nor can appellant rely on his voluntary absence from the court room during the trial to establish prejudice. As our supreme court has noted:

An accused has the right to be present at every stage of his trial. This right, however, may be waived. A defendant may properly be excluded when his conduct is disruptive or is interfering with the progress of the trial. Although the right to be present is a substantial one, no presumption of prejudice arises from a defendant's exclusion.

State v. Bell, 293 S.C. 391, 401, 360 S.E.2d 706, 711 (1987) (emphasis added) (internal citations omitted). In other words, appellant cannot claim prejudice arising from his voluntary decision to leave the court room.

Nevertheless, appellant argues that the record does not support the circuit court's finding that his alleged impairment was "simply a bald-faced assertion." (App. Brief 12). In support of this argument, appellant notes that trial counsel informed the court that appellant receives a disability check for his impairment. (App. Brief 12). But the circuit court is not required to rely on the word of counsel alone. By appellant's logic, the circuit court would be required to accept every representation by counsel as gospel. Appellant offered no disability paperwork, no prescription, no doctor's note, and no lay testimony in support of counsel's argument.¹⁸ The absence of any evidence supporting counsel's assertion justifies the circuit court's finding.

Appellant also argues that the circuit court erred in finding that appellant's motion to represent himself was a pretext to delay the trial. Appellant notes that a defendant's "improper motive or unethical conduct is not enough to preclude him from exercising his right to self-representation." (App. Brief 16)(quoting State v. Samuel, 422 S.C. 596, 606, 813 S.E.2d 487,

¹⁸ As noted in footnote 13 above, the mother of appellant's children, Tiffany Petty, testified during the State's case-in-chief. On cross-examination, she provided some details regarding appellant's alleged vision impairment. (R. 371, l. 14- 23). However, as noted above, the testimony occurred after the circuit court denied both of appellant's motions to continue.

493 (2018)). Appellant's argument is misplaced. It confuses two separate issues: the motion to continue and the motion to proceed *pro se*.

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